UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549
FORM 10 – Q
x QUARTERLY REPORT UNDER SECTION 13 OR 15(D) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the quarterly period ended: September 30, 2016
¨ TRANSITION REPORT UNDER SECTION 13 OR 15(D) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
Commission File Number 333-192877
QPAGOS
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)
Nevada
(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or
organization)

33-1230229
(IRS Employer Identification Number)

Paseo del la Reforma 404 Piso 15 PH
Col. Juarez, Del. Cuauhtemoc
Mexico, D.F. C.P. 06600
(Address of principal executive offices including zip code)
+52 (55)-110-110
(Registrant’s telephone number, including area code)
Check whether the issuer (1) filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act during the past 12 months (or
for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past
90 days. Yes ¨ No x * (Note : Prior to June 9, 2016, the registrant was a voluntary filer of reports under Section 13 or 15(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934; however, the registrant has voluntarily filed during the preceding 12 months all reports it would have
been required to file by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 if the registrant had been subject to one of such
Sections)
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate website, if any, every interactive data
file required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (section 232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12
months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit and post such files). Yes x No ¨
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). Yes ¨

No x

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting
company. See the definitions of “large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer” and “smaller reporting company” in Rule 12b-2 of the
Exchange Act. (Check one):
Large Accelerated Filer ¨

Accelerated Filer ¨

Non-Accelerated Filer ¨

Smaller Reporting Company x

Number of shares outstanding of the issuer’s common stock as of the latest practicable date: 55,454,000 shares of common stock, $0.0001
par value per share as of December 12, 2016.

QPAGOS
(FORMERLY KNOWN AS ASIYA PEARLS, INC.)
Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements
This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of
1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). In
particular, statements contained in this Quarterly Report Form 10-Q, including but not limited to, the sufficiency of our cash, our ability to
finance our operations and business initiatives and obtain funding for such activities; our future results of operations and financial position,
business strategy and plan prospects, or costs and objectives of management for future acquisitions, are forward-looking statements. These
forward-looking statements relate to our future plans, objectives, expectations and intentions and may be identified by words such as
“may,” “will,” “should,” “expects,” “plans,” “anticipates,” “intends,” “targets,” “projects,” “contemplates,” “believes,” “seeks,” “goals,”
“estimates,” “predicts,” “potential” and “continue” or similar words. Readers are cautioned that these forward-looking statements are based
on our current beliefs, expectations and assumptions and are subject to risks, uncertainties, and assumptions that are difficult to predict,
including those identified below, under Part II, Item 1A. “Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. Therefore,
actual results may differ materially and adversely from those expressed, projected or implied in any forward-looking statements. We
undertake no obligation to revise or update any forward-looking statements for any reason.
NOTE REGARDING COMPANY REFERENCES
Throughout this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, “QPAGOS,” the “Company,” “we,” “us” and “our” refer to QPAGOS and its direct and
indirect subsidiaries, Qpagos Corporation, Qpagos S.A.P.I. de C.V. and Redpag S.A.P.I de C.V.
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QPAGOS
(FORMERLY KNOWN AS ASIYA PEARLS, INC.)
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
September 30,
2016
(Unaudited)

December 31,
2015
(as restated)

Assets
Current Assets
Cash
Accounts receivable, net
Inventory
Recoverable IVA taxes and credits
Other current assets
Total Current Assets

$

Non-Current Assets
Plant and equipment, net
Intangibles, net
Investment
Other assets
Total Non-Current Assets
Total Assets

$

25,638
59,059
480,046
358,521
149,778
1,073,042
45,205
179,167
3,000
10,447
237,819
1,310,861

$

$

832,159
242,075
668,567
417,897
52,014
2,212,712
70,537
211,417
11,712
293,666
2,506,378

Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity
Current Liabilities
Accounts payable
Notes payable
IVA and other taxes payable
Advances from customers
Total Current Liabilities

$

Total Liabilities
Stockholders' Equity
Common stock, $0.0001 par value; 100,000,000 shares authorized, 55,394,000 and 44,784,000
shares issued and outstanding as of September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, respectively.
Additional paid-in-capital
Accumulated deficit
Accumulated other comprehensive income
Total stockholder's equity - controlling interest
Non-controlling interest
Total Stockholders' Equity
Total Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity

$

See notes to the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements
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237,159
172,328
111,686
8,324
529,497

$

38,372
103,320
192,044
1,986
335,722

529,497

335,722

5,540

4,478

8,239,527
(8,031,286)
567,583
781,364
781,364
1,310,861 $

5,735,861
(3,989,689)
420,006
2,170,656
2,170,656
2,506,378

QPAGOS
(FORMERLY KNOWN AS ASIYA PEARLS, INC.)
UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

Net Revenue

Three
Months
Ended
September 30,
2016

Three
Months
Ended
September 30,
2015

Nine
Months
Ended
September 30,
2016

Nine
Months
Ended
September 30,
2015

$

$

$

$

Cost of Goods Sold

769,897

363,580

2,026,248

525,050

736,021

311,779

1,942,957

455,715

33,876

51,801

83,291

69,335

536,156
19,345
555,501

360,610
8,583
369,193

3,845,798
58,034
3,903,832

1,153,981
25,503
1,179,484

Loss from Operations

(521,625)

(317,392)

(3,820,541)

(1,110,149)

Other income
Interest expense, net
Foreign currency loss

636
(3,025)
(101,854)

(205,179)

4,651
(9,008)
(216,699)

471
(418,368)

Loss before Provision for Income Taxes
Provision for Income Taxes

(625,868)
-

(522,571)
-

(4,041,597)
-

(1,528,046)
-

Net Loss
Net loss attributable to non-controlling interest

(625,868)
-

(522,571)
-

(4,041,597)
-

(1,528,046)
-

Gross Profit
General and administrative
Depreciation and amortization
Total Expense

Net Loss Attributable to Controlling Interest

$

(625,868) $

(522,571) $

(4,041,597) $

(1,528,046)

Net Loss Per Share - Basic and Diluted

$

(0.01) $

(0.01) $

(0.07) $

(0.07)

Weighted Average Number of Shares Outstanding - Basic and
Diluted

55,344,870

37,184,000

54,226,382

21,250,969

55,418

156,873

147,577

263,353

(570,450)
-

(365,698)
-

(3,894,020)
-

(1,264,694)
-

(570,450) $

(365,698) $

(3,894,020) $

(1,264,694)

Other Comprehensive Income
Foreign currency translation adjustment
Total Comprehensive loss
Comprehensive loss attributable to non-controlling interest
Comprehensive Loss Attributable to Controlling Interest

$

See notes to the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements
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QPAGOS
(FORMERLY KNOWN AS ASIYA PEARLS, INC.)
UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
FOR THE PERIOD JANUARY 1, 2016 TO SEPTEMBER 30, 2016 (Unaudited)

Additional
Paid-in
Capital

Common Stock
Shares
Amount

Accumulated
Deficit

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income

Total
Stockholders'
Equity
Controlling
Interest

NonControlling
Interest

Total
Stockholders'
Equity

Balance as of December 31,
2015 as previously reported

49,809,000

Correction of prior period
errors

(5,025,000)

Balance as of December 31,
2015 as restated

44,784,000

4,478

5,735,861

(3,989,689)

420,006

2,170,656

Equity based compensation

-

-

144,000

-

-

144,000

-

144,000

Shares issued for services

5,145,000

515

2,031,760

-

-

2,032,275

-

2,032,275

Shares retained by
accounting acquiree in
reverse merger transaction

5,025,000

503

-

-

440,000

44

329,956

-

-

330,000

-

330,000

Translation adjustment

-

-

-

-

147,577

147,577

-

147,577

Net loss for the nine months
ended September 30, 2016

-

-

-

(4,041,597)

-

5,540

$ 8,239,527

Shares issued for cash

Balance as of September
30, 2016

55,394,000

$

4,981
(503)

$

$ 5,733,811

$

2,050

(4,019,428) $

29,739

(2,050)

$

(8,031,286) $

422,584

$

(2,578)

567,583

2,141,948

28,708

-

$

-

2,170,656

(1,547)

(4,041,597)

$

781,364

2,141,948

28,708

(1,547)

See notes to unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements
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$

(4,041,597)

-

$

-

$

781,364

QPAGOS
(FORMERLY KNOWN AS ASIYA PEARLS, INC.)
UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
Nine
Months
Ended
September 30,
2016
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net loss attributable to the company
Less: loss attributable to non-controlling interest
Net loss
Adjustment to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Depreciation expense
Amortization expense
Provision for bad debt
Equity based compensation charge
Shares issued for services
Non- cash investment in affiliates
Changes in Assets and Liabilities
Accounts receivable
Inventory
Recoverable IVA taxes and credits
Other current assets
Other assets
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
IVA and other taxes payable
Advances from customers
Interest accruals
CASH USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES

$

Nine
Months
Ended
September 30,
2015

(4,041,597) $
(4,041,597)
25,246
32,788
103,888
144,000
2,032,275
(3,000)

(1,528,046)
(1,528,046)
25,063
440
166,715
-

79,130
188,521
59,376
(97,765)
1,265
198,786
(80,358)
6,338
9,009
(1,342,098)

(320,303)
29,513
(200,006)
63,366
(3,460)
(19,283)
98,594
41,196
(1,646,211)

(1,547)
(453)
(2,000)

(3,975)
(115,000)
(118,975)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Reverse merger net liabilities
Purchase of property and equipment
Intangibles assets
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Proceeds on common stock issued
Proceeds from loans payable
NET CASH PROVIDED BY FINANCING ACTIVITIES

330,000
60,000
390,000

883,050
586,597
1,469,647

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents

147,577

263,353

NET DECREASE IN CASH
CASH AT BEGINNING OF PERIOD
CASH AT END OF PERIOD

$

CASH PAID FOR INTEREST AND TAXES:
Cash paid for income taxes
Cash paid for interest

$
$

-

$
$

-

NON-CASH INVESTING AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Conversion of debt to equity

$

-

$

2,909,423

See notes to the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements
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(806,521)
832,159
25,638 $

(32,186)
173,828
141,642

QPAGOS
(FORMERLY KNOWN AS ASIYA PEARLS, INC.)
NOTES TO THE UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1

ORGANIZATION AND DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS
a) Organization
On May 12, 2016, QPAGOS (formerly known as Asiya Pearls, Inc.), a Nevada corporation (“QPAGOS”), entered into an
Agreement and Plan of Merger (the “Merger Agreement”) with Qpagos Corporation, a Delaware corporation (“Qpagos
Corporation”), and Qpagos Merge, Inc., a Delaware corporation and wholly owned subsidiary of QPAGOS (“Merger
Sub”). Pursuant to the Merger Agreement, on May 12, 2016, the merger was consummated and Qpagos Corporation and
Merger Sub merged (the “Merger”), with Qpagos Corporation continuing as the surviving corporation of the Merger.
Pursuant to the Merger Agreement, upon consummation of the Merger, each share of Qpagos Corporation’s capital stock issued
and outstanding immediately prior to the Merger was converted into the right to receive two shares of QPAGOS common stock,
par value $0.0001 per share (the “Common Stock”). Additionally, pursuant to the Merger Agreement, upon consummation of
the Merger, QPAGOS assumed all of Qpagos Corporation’s warrants issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Merger,
which are now exercisable for approximately 6,219,200 shares of Common Stock, respectively, as of the date of the Merger.
Prior to and as a condition to the closing of the Merger, the then-current QPAGOS stockholder of 5,000,000 shares of Common
Stock agreed to return to QPAGOS 4,975,000 shares of Common Stock held by such holder to QPAGOS and the then-current
QPAGOS stockholder retained an aggregate of 25,000 shares of Common Stock and the other stockholders of QPAGOS
retained 5,000,000 shares of Common Stock. Therefore, immediately following the Merger, Qpagos Corporation’s former
stockholders held 49,929,000 shares of QPAGOS common stock which represented approximately 91% of the outstanding
Common Stock.
The Merger is being treated as a reverse acquisition of QPAGOS, a public shell company, for financial accounting and
reporting purposes. As such, Qpagos Corporation is treated as the acquirer for accounting and financial reporting purposes
while QPAGOS is treated as the acquired entity for accounting and financial reporting purposes. Further, as a result, the
historical financial statements that are reflected in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and that will be reflected in the
Company’s future financial statements filed with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) will be those
of Qpagos Corporation, and the Company’s assets, liabilities and results of operations will be consolidated with the assets,
liabilities and results of operations of Qpagos Corporation.
Qpagos Corporation was incorporated on May 1, 2015 under the laws of Delaware under the name Qpagos Corporation as the
holding company for two 99.99% owned operating subsidiaries, QPagos, S.A.P.I. de C.V. and Redpag Electrónicos S.A.P.I. de
C.V. Each of these entities were incorporated in November 2013 in Mexico.
QPagos, S.A.P.I. de C.V. was formed to process payment transactions for service providers it contracts with, and Redpag
Electrónicos S.A.P.I. de C.V. was formed to deploy and operate kiosks as a distributor.
On August 31, 2015, QPAGOS Corporation entered into various agreements with the shareholders of Qpagos and Redpag to
give effect to a reverse merger transaction (the "Reverse Merger''). Pursuant to the Reverse Merger, the majority of the
shareholders of Qpagos and Redpag effectively received shares in Qpagos Corporation, through various consulting and
management agreements entered into with Qpagos Corporation and sold an effective 99.996% and 99.990% of the
outstanding shares on Qpagos and Redpag, respectively to Qpagos Corporation. The series of transactions closed effective
August 31, 2015. Upon the close of the Reverse Merger, Qpagos Corporation became the parent of Qpagos and Redpag and
assumed the operations of these two companies as its sole business.
On May 27, 2016 Asiya changed its name to QPAGOS. QPAGOS and its direct and indirect subsidiaries Qpagos Corporation,
QPagos, S.A.P.I. de C.V. and Redpag Electrónicos S.A.P.I. de C.V., will be referred to hereafter as “the Company”.
On June 1, 2016, the board of directors changed the Company’s fiscal year end from October 31 to December 31.
b) Description of the business
QPAGOS, through its indirect subsidiaries QPagos, S.A.P.I. de C.V. and Redpag Electrónicos S.A.P.I. de C.V., provides
physical and virtual payment services to the Mexican market. The Company provides an integrated network of kiosks, terminals
and payment channels that enable consumers in Mexico to deposit cash, convert it into a digital form and remit the funds to any
merchant in our network quickly and securely. The Company helps consumers and merchants connect more efficiently in
markets and consumer segments, such as Mexico, that are largely cash-based and lack convenient alternatives for consumers to
pay for goods and services in physical, online and mobile environments. For example, the Company’s licensed technology can
be used to pay bills, add minutes to mobile phones, purchase transportation tickets, shop online or at a retail store, buy digital
services or send money to a friend or relative.
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QPAGOS
(FORMERLY KNOWN AS ASIYA PEARLS, INC.)
NOTES TO THE UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
2

ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES
a)

Basis of Presentation
The accompanying unaudited condensed financial statements have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles (“U.S. GAAP”) for interim financial information with the instructions to Form 10-Q and Rule 8-03 of
Regulation S-X. Accordingly, these unaudited condensed financial statements do not include all of the information and
disclosures required by U.S. GAAP for complete financial statements. In the opinion of management, the accompanying
unaudited condensed financial statements include all adjustments (consisting only of normal recurring adjustments), which the
Company considers necessary, for a fair presentation of those financial statements. The results of operations and cash flows for
the three months and nine months ended September 30, 2016 may not necessarily be indicative of results that may be expected
for any succeeding quarter or for the entire fiscal year. The information contained in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
should be read in conjunction with the audited financial statements of Qpagos Corporation included in the current report on
Form 8-K/A as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) on December 12, 2016.
All amounts referred to in the notes to the financial statements are in United States Dollars ($) unless stated otherwise.

b) Principles of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and its wholly owned subsidiary and its
indirect subsidiaries. All significant inter-company accounts and transactions have been eliminated in the consolidated financial
statements. The entities included in these consolidated financial statements are as follows:
QPAGOS – Parent Company QPAGOS Corporation – 100% owned
QPagos, S.A. P.I de C.V., a Mexican entity (99.996% owned)
Redpag Electrónicos, S.A. P.I. de C.V., a Mexican entity (99.990% owned)
c)

Mexican Operations
The financial statements of the Company’s Mexican operations are measured using local currencies as their functional
currencies.
The Company translates the assets and liabilities of its Mexican subsidiaries at the exchange rates in effect at year end and the
results of operations at the average rate throughout the year. The translation adjustments are recorded directly as a separate
component of stockholders’ equity, while transaction gains (losses) are included in net income (loss). All sales to customers are
in Mexico.

d) Use of Estimates
The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates
and assumptions, which are evaluated on an ongoing basis, that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial
statements and accompanying notes. Management bases its estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions
that it believes are reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the
carrying values of assets and liabilities and the amounts of revenues and expenses that are not readily apparent from other
sources. Actual results could differ from those estimates and judgments. In particular, significant estimates and judgments
include those related to: the estimated useful lives for plant and equipment, the fair value of warrants and stock options granted
for services or compensation, estimates of the probability and potential magnitude of contingent liabilities, derivative
liabilities, the valuation allowance for deferred tax assets due to continuing operating losses, those related to revenue
recognition and the allowance for doubtful accounts.
Making estimates requires management to exercise significant judgment. It is at least reasonably possible that the estimate of
the effect of a condition, situation or set of circumstances that existed at the date of the consolidated financial statements, which
management considered in formulating its estimate could change in the near term due to one or more future confirming events.
Accordingly, the actual results could differ significantly from our estimates.
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NOTES TO THE UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
2

ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES (continued)
e) Risks and Uncertainties
The Company's operations will be subject to significant risk and uncertainties including financial, operational, regulatory and
other risks associated, including the potential risk of business failure. The recent global economic crisis has caused a general
tightening in the credit markets, lower levels of liquidity, increases in the rates of default and bankruptcy, and extreme volatility
in credit, equity and fixed income markets. These conditions not only limit the Company’s access to capital, but also make it
difficult for its customers, vendors and the Company to accurately forecast and plan future business activities.
The Company’s operations are carried out in Mexico. Accordingly, the Company’s business, financial condition and results of
operations may be influenced by the political, economic and legal environment in Mexico and by the general state of that
economy. The Company’s results may be adversely affected by changes in governmental policies with respect to laws and
regulations, anti-inflationary measures, and rates and methods of taxation, among other things.
f)

Recent Accounting Pronouncements
In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13, "Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments." ASU 2016-13 will
replace the current incurred loss approach with an expected loss model for instruments measured at amortized cost and require
entities to record allowances for available-for-sale debt securities rather than reduce the carrying amount under the current
other-than-temporary impairment model. ASU 2016-13 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019, and
interim periods within those fiscal years. Early adoption is permitted for all entities for annual periods beginning after
December 15, 2018, and interim periods therein. We are currently evaluating the effect ASU 2016-13 will have on our
unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
In August 2016, FASB issued ASU 2016-15, "Classification of Certain Cash Receipts and Cash Payments." ASU 2016-15 is
intended to reduce diversity in practice in how certain transactions are classified in the statement of cash flows. ASU 2016-15 is
effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2017, and interim periods within those fiscal years, with early adoption
permitted. We are currently evaluating the effect ASU 2016-15 will have on our unaudited condensed consolidated statements
of cash flows.
In October 2016, Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update No. (“ASU”) 201616, "Intra-Entity Transfers of Assets Other Than Inventory." ASU 2016-16 requires immediate recognition of income tax
consequences of intercompany asset transfers, other than inventory transfers. Existing GAAP prohibits recognition of income
tax consequences of intercompany asset transfers whereby the seller defers any net tax effect and the buyer is prohibited from
recognizing a deferred tax asset on the difference between the newly created tax basis of the asset in its tax jurisdiction and its
financial statement carrying amount as reported in the consolidated financial statements. ASU 2016-16 specifically excludes
from its scope intercompany inventory transfers whereby the recognition of tax consequences will take place when the
inventory is sold to third parties. ASU 2016-16 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2017, and interim
periods within those fiscal years. Early adoption is permitted as of the beginning of an annual reporting period for which
financial statements have not been issued or made available for issuance. We are currently evaluating the effect ASU 2016-16
will have on our unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
Any new accounting standards, not disclosed above, that have been issued or proposed by FASB that do not require adoption
until a future date are not expected to have a material impact on the financial statements upon adoption.

g) Cash and Cash Equivalents
The Company considers all highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less at the time of purchase to
be cash equivalents. At September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, respectively, the Company had no cash equivalents.
The Company minimizes credit risk associated with cash by periodically evaluating the credit quality of its primary financial
institution in the United States. The balance at times may exceed federally insured limits. At December 31, 2015, the Company
had cash balances in the United States, which exceeded the federally insured limits by $531,238. At September 30, 2016, cash
balances in the United States did not exceed the federally insured limit.
h) Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
Accounts receivable are reported at realizable value, net of allowances for doubtful accounts, which is estimated and recorded
in the period the related revenue is recorded. The Company has a standardized approach to estimate and review the
collectability of its receivables based on a number of factors, including the period they have been outstanding. Historical
collection and payer reimbursement experience is an integral part of the estimation process related to allowances for doubtful
accounts. In addition, the Company regularly assesses the state of its billing operations in order to identify issues, which may
impact the collectability of these receivables or reserve estimates. Revisions to the allowance for doubtful accounts estimates
are recorded as an adjustment to bad debt expense. Receivables deemed uncollectible are charged against the allowance for
doubtful accounts at the time such receivables are written-off. Recoveries of receivables previously written-off are recorded as
credits to the allowance for doubtful accounts. There were no recoveries during the nine months ended September 30, 2016.
i)

Cost Method Investments
Investee companies not accounted for under the consolidation or the equity method are accounted for under the cost method of

accounting. Under this method, the Company’s share of earnings or losses of such investee companies is not included in the
condensed consolidated balance sheet or statement of comprehensive loss. However, impairment charges are recognized in the
condensed consolidated statement of comprehensive loss. If circumstances suggest that the value of the investee company has
subsequently recovered, such recovery is not recorded. There is no impairment of investment at September 30, 2016.
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NOTES TO THE UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
2

ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES (continued)
j)

Inventory
The Company primarily values inventories at the lower of cost or market applied on a first-in, first-out basis. The Company
identifies and writes down its excess and obsolete inventories to net realizable value based on usage forecasts, order volume and
inventory aging. With the development of new products, the Company also rationalizes its product offerings and will writedown discontinued product to the lower of cost or net realizable value.

k) Revenue Recognition
The Company’s revenue recognition policy is consistent with the requirements of Financial Accounting Standards Board
(FASB) Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 605, Revenue Recognition (ASC 605). In general, the Company records
revenue when it is realized, or realizable and earned. The Company considers revenue to be realized, or realizable and earned
when, persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, the products or services have been approved by the customer after
delivery and/or installation acceptance or performance of services; the sales price is fixed or determinable within the contract;
and collectability is reasonably assured.
The Company has the following sources of revenue which is recognized on the basis described below.
·

Revenue from the sale of services.
Prepaid services are acquired from providers and is sold to end-users through kiosks that the Company owns or kiosks
that are owned by third parties. The Company recognizes the revenue on the sale of these services when the end-user
deposits funds into the terminal and the prepaid service is delivered to the end-user. The revenue is recognized at the
gross value, including margin, of the prepaid service to the Company, net of any value-added tax which is collected on
behalf of the Mexican Revenue Authorities.

·

Payment processing provided to end-users
The Company provides a secure means for end-users to pay for certain services, such as utilities through our kiosks.
The Company earns either a fixed per-transaction fee or a fixed percentage of the service sold. The Company acts as a
collection agent and recognizes the payment processing fee, net of any value-added taxes collected on behalf of the
Mexican Revenue Authorities, when the funds are deposited into the kiosk and the customer has settled his liability or
has acquired a prepaid service.

·

Revenue from the sale of kiosks.
The Company imports, assembles and sell kiosks that are used to generate the revenues discussed above. Revenue is
recognized on the full value of the kiosks sold, net of any valued added taxation collected on behalf of the Mexican
Revenue Authorities, when the customer takes delivery of the kiosk and all the risks and rewards of ownership are
passed to the customer.
The Company does not enter into any leasing of kiosks arrangements with customers and the Company does not
generate any revenues from merchants who access its terminals as yet.
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GOING CONCERN
These financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis which assumes the Company will be able to realize its
assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business for the foreseeable future. The Company has incurred a loss
since inception resulting in an accumulated deficit of $8,031,286 as of September 30, 2016 and has not generated sufficient revenue
to cover its operating expenditure, raising substantial doubt about the Company's ability to continue as a going concern. In addition
to operational expenses, as the Company executes its business plan, additional capital resources will be required. The Company will
need to raise capital in the near term in order to continue operating and executing its business plan. The ability to continue as a
going concern is dependent upon the Company generating profitable operations in the future and/or obtaining the necessary
financing to meet its obligations and repay its liabilities arising from normal business operations when they come due. The
Company’s plan is to expand its market penetration by deploying more kiosks through various channels, thereby increasing
revenues. In addition, the Company intends to raise additional equity or loan funds to meet its short term working capital needs. The
accompanying financial statements do not include any adjustments to reflect the possible future effects on the recoverability and
classification of assets or the amounts and classifications of liabilities that may result from the possible inability of the Company to
continue as a going concern.
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INVENTORY
Inventory consisted of the following:
September 30,
2016

December 31, 2015

Kiosks and accessories

$
$

F-9

480,046
480,046

$
$

668,567
668,567
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PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Plant and Equipment consisted of the following:
September
30, 2016
Computer equipment
Office equipment
Leasehold improvement
Total cost
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization
Plant and equipment, net

$

December 31, 2015

108,383 $
14,712
12,375
135,470
(90,265)
45,205 $

$

107,929
14,712
12,375
135,016
(64,479)
70,537

Depreciation expense totaled $25,246 and $25,063 for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively.
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INTANGIBLES
License
Localization and implementation of the different software and technology modules is supported through a Localization Agreement.
Under this agreement, at a cost of $215,000, the licensor allocated engineering and programming resources to the Company. The
cost is being amortized over 5 years.
On May 1, 2015, Qpagos Corporation entered into a renewable ten-year license with the Licensor for the non-exclusive right to
license technology to provide payment services. Subsequently, on November 1, 2015, the Company and the Licensor concluded an
additional amendment to the License Agreement by which the Licensor agreed to the exclusivity to the Mexican market subject to
the payment of $20,000 per year payable in quarterly installments, the first two such installments payable December 1, 2015. The
agreement may be terminated early by the Licensor if Qpagos Corporation fails to comply with its terms and conditions. The
quarterly payments are recorded as a prepaid expense and is amortized over the period to which it relates.
Intangibles consisted of the following:

Software Localization Agreement
Total cost
Less: accumulated amortization
Intangibles, net

September 30,
2016

December 31,
2015

$

215,000

$

$

215,000
(35,833)
179,167 $

215,000
215,000
(3,583)
211,417

Amortization expense was $32,788 and $440 for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively.
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NOTES PAYABLE
Notes payable consisted of the following:

Description
YP Holdings LLC
Strategic IR
Gaston Pereira
Total notes payable

Interest
Rate

September 30,
2016

Maturity
12% December 31, 2015
10%
March 28, 2017
6%
March 15, 2017

December 31,
2015

112,328
50,000
10,000
$

172,328

103,320
$

103,320

YP Holdings LLC
On September 21, 2015, Qpagos Corporation borrowed $100,000 from YP Holdings LLC, pursuant to an unsecured loan
agreement. The unpaid balance and any accrued interest was due on December 31, 2015. The loan bears interest at a rate of 12%.
The debt remains outstanding as of the date of this report and is expected to be settled within 12 months.

Strategic IR
Effective September 29, 2016, the Company executed an unsecured promissory note for $50,000 with an investor, bearing
interest at 10% per annum payable on March 28, 2017.
Gaston Pereira
On September 15, 2016, the Company executed a revolving line of credit note for $100,000 with our CEO pursuant to the terms
of a Revolving Line of Credit Agreement. The note bears interest at 6% and is due and payable 6 months from the effective date.
Provided the borrower is not in default, the borrower may extend and renew the note for an additional 6 month term. As of
December 12, 2016, the outstanding balance under the revolving line of credit was $20,000.
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STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
a) Common Stock
The Company has authorized 100,000,000 common shares with a par value of $0.0001 each, and issued and has outstanding
55,394,000 shares of common stock as of September 30, 2016.
The following common shares were issued by the Company during the nine months ended September 30, 2016:
i.

On February 16, 2016, the Company entered into consulting agreements with Gibbs Investment Holdings, Gibbs
International, Eurosa, Inc. and Robert Skaff, in terms of which the parties have provided consulting services to the
Company and continue to provide such services and were issued a total of 2,572,500 common shares of Qpagos
Corporation, which were subsequently converted to 5,145,000 shares of the Company.

ii.

During the period, May 16, 2016 to August 23, 2016, in terms of subscription agreements entered into, the Company
issued 440,000 shares to a shareholder for gross proceeds of $330,000.

Included in common stock is restricted stock which vested on April 30, 2016:

$
$

Grant date Price
0.10
0.10

Restricted Stock Granted
Weighted
Average
Number
Fair Value per
Granted
Share
2,880,000 $
0.10
1,440,000 $
0.10
4,320,000 $
0.10

Restricted Stock Vested
Weighted
Average
Number
Fair Value per
Vested
Share
2,880,000 $
0.10
1,440,000 $
0.10
4,320,000 $
0.10

The Company has recorded an expense of $144,000 and $166,715 for the nine months ended September 30 2016 and 2015,
respectively, relating to the restricted stock awards.
b) Preferred Stock
The Company has authorized 25,0000,000 shares of preferred stock with a par value of $0.0001, no preferred stock is issued
and outstanding as of September 30, 2016.
c) Warrants
In connection with the Merger, outstanding Qpagos Corporation warrants were assumed by QPAGOS and converted to
QPAGOS warrants at a ratio of two QPAGOS warrants for each Qpagos Corporation warrant issued.
During the period June 2015 to December 2015, pursuant to the private placement agreement and individual Securities Purchase
Agreements entered into, new, qualified investors, acquired 4,784,000 (2,392,000 pre-merger) common units of the Company
at a price of $0.625 ($1.25 pre-merger) per unit, each unit consisting of one share of Common Stock and a five year warrant
exercisable for one share of common stock at an exercise price of $0.625 ($1.25 pre-merger) per share.
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STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (continued)
c) Warrants
The warrants outstanding and exercisable at September 30, 2016 are as follows:

Exercise
Price
$

0.625

Warrants Outstanding
Weighted
Average
Weighted
Remaining
Average
Number
Contractual
Exercise
Outstanding
life in years
Price
6,219,200

4.00

$

0.625

Warrants Exercisable

Number
Exercisable
6,219,200 $

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price
0.625

Weighted
Average
Remaining
Contractual
life in years
4.00

The warrants outstanding have an intrinsic value of $0 and $0 as of September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, respectively.
d) Reverse merger transaction
On May 12, 2016, QPAGOS (formerly known as Asiya Pearls, Inc.), a Nevada corporation entered into the Merger Agreement
with QPAGOS Corporation and Merger Sub. Pursuant to the Merger Agreement, on May 12, 2016 the Merger was
consummated and Qpagos Corporation and Merger Sub merged with Qpagos Corporation continued as the surviving
corporation of the Merger.
Pursuant to the Merger Agreement, upon consummation of the Merger, each share of Qpagos Corporations’ capital stock issued
and outstanding immediately prior to the Merger was converted into the right to receive two shares of QPAGOS Common
Stock. Additionally, pursuant to the Merger Agreement, upon consummation of the Merger, QPAGOS assumed all of Qpagos
Corporation’s warrants issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Merger, which are now exercisable for approximately
6,219,200 shares of Common Stock, respectively, as of the date of the Merger. Prior to and as a condition to the closing of the
Merger, the then-current QPAGOS stockholder of 5,000,000 shares of Common Stock agreed to return to QPAGOS 4,975,000
shares of Common Stock held by such holder to QPAGOS and the then-current QPAGOS stockholder retained an aggregate of
25,000 shares of Common Stock and the other stockholders of QPAGOS retained 5,000,000 shares of Common Stock.
Therefore, immediately following the Merger, Qpagos Corporation’s former stockholders held 49,929,000 shares of QPAGOS
common stock which is approximately 91% of the QPAGOS Common Stock outstanding. The common shares in issue by
Qpagos Corporation prior to the consummation of the reverse merger transaction have been retroactively adjusted to reflect the
number of shares outstanding as if the merger had taken place on the earliest date.
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REVENUE
Revenue is derived from the following sources:
Three
Three
Nine
Nine
Months
Months
Months
Months
Ended
Ended
Ended
Ended
September 30, September 30, September 30, September 30,
2016
2015
2016
2015
Sales of services
Payment processing fees
Kiosk sales
Other

$

$
10

736,936
16,532
16,429
769,897

$

218,377
17,971
127,099
133
363,580

$

$

1,830,237
30,113
165,752
146
2,026,248

$

$

325,913
26,710
172,294
133
525,050

EQUITY BASED COMPENSATION
Equity based compensation is made up of the following:

Restricted stock awards
Stock issued for services rendered

Nine
Months Ended
September 30,
2016

Nine
Months Ended
September 30,
2015

$

$

$
11

144,000
2,032,275
2,176,275

$

166,715
166,715

NET LOSS PER SHARE
Basic loss per share is based on the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during each period. Diluted loss per
share is based on basic shares as determined above plus common stock equivalents. The computation of diluted net loss per share
does not assume the issuance of common shares that have an anti-dilutive effect on net loss per share. For the nine months ended
September 30, 2016 and 2015, all unvested restricted stock awards and warrants, were excluded from the computation of diluted net
loss per share. Dilutive shares which could exist pursuant to the exercise of outstanding stock instruments and which were not
included in the calculation because their affect would have been anti-dilutive are as follows:

Restricted stock awards – unvested
Shares of common stock
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Nine
Months Ended
September 30,
2016
(Shares)

Nine
Months Ended
September 30,
2015
(Shares)

6,219,200
6,219,200

1,160,000
6,219,200
7,379,200
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COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Qpagos Corporation operates from an office facility in Mexico. The office is leased under a three (3) year non-cancellable operating
lease, which ends on December 15, 2016. The monthly rental expense, including maintenance expenditure is $2,729.
The future minimum lease installments under this agreement as of September 30, 2016 is approximately $8,185.

13

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
On October 7, 2016 and October 17, 2016, the Company issued an additional 60,000 shares of common stock for gross proceeds of
$45,000 to an investor in terms of an executed Securities Purchase Agreement.
Between October 14, 2016 and November 23, 2016, the Company executed five unsecured promissory notes totaling $225,000,
with investors, each promissory note bearing interest at 10% per annum and maturing between February 13,2017 and November 23,
2017.
Other than disclosed above, in accordance with ASC 855-10, the Company has analyzed its operations subsequent to September 30,
2016 to the date these financial statements were issued, and has determined that it does not have any material subsequent events to
disclose in these financial statements.
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Item 2.
MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with, and is qualified in its entirety by, Qpagos Corporation’s
audited annual financial statements and the related notes thereto, each of which are included as an exhibit to our Current Report on Form
8- K/A filed with the SEC on December 12, 2016. Th is discussion contains certain forward-looking statements that involve risks and
uncertainties, as described under the heading “Forward-Looking Statements” in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. Actual results could
differ materially from those projected in the forward-looking statements. For additional information regarding these risks and
uncertainties, please see the disclosure under the heading “Risk Factors” elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q . The
Management Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations below is based upon only the financial
performance of Qpagos Corporation.
For information regarding the financial results of QPAGOS (formerly known as Asiya Pearls, Inc.), you should refer to Asiya’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended October 31, 2015, filed with the SEC on December 10, 2015, and its Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended January 31, 2016, filed with the SEC on February 19, 2016. As a result of the Merger that was
consummated on May 12, 2016, the Company changed its fiscal year end to December 31 and filed a transitions report on December 12,
2016 on Form 10- Q/A for the period ended March 31, 2016. The Merger was treated as a reverse acquisition for financial accounting
and reporting purposes. As such, Qpagos Corporation was treated as the acquirer for accounting and financial reporting purposes while
Asiya Pearls, Inc. was treated as the acquired entity for accounting and financial reporting purposes. Further, as a result, the historical
financial statements that are reflected in the Company’s financial statements filed with the SEC are those of Qpagos Corporation and the
Company’s assets, liabilities and results of operations will be consolidated with the assets, liabilities and results of operations of Qpagos
Corporation. Accordingly, for clarity and continuity, we are presenting the historical financial statements for Qpagos Corporation for the
periods presented. The financial statements presented in the Current Report on Form 8-K/A filed on December 12, 2016, the Transition
Report on Form 10-Q/A filed on December 12, 2016 and this Quarterly Report on form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2016
are those of Qpagos Corporation and therefore, a review of the financial statements in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended October 31, 2015, filed with the SEC on December 10, 2015, and our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended January
31, 2016, filed with the SEC on February 19, 2016 may not be meaningful on a quantitative or qualitative basis.
Overview and Financial Condition
QPAGOS
We are a provider of next generation physical and virtual payment services that we introduced to the Mexican market in the third
quarter of 2014.
We provide an integrated network of kiosks, terminals and payment channels that enable consumers to deposit cash, convert it into
a digital form and remit the funds to any merchant in our network quickly and securely. We help consumers and merchants connect more
efficiently in markets and consumer segments, such as Mexico, that are largely cash-based and lack convenient alternatives for consumers
to pay for goods and services in physical, online and mobile environments. For example, we license technology that can be used to pay
bills, add minutes to mobile phones, purchase transportation tickets, shop online, buy digital services or send money to a friend or relative.
Our current focus is on Mexico which remains a cash-dominated society for retail consumer payments with approximately 80% of
the value of personal payments exchanged in cash (Bank of Mexico). The penetration of electronic payment services, such as credit and
debit cards and point of sale terminals, significantly lags behind more developed economies. We believe that opportunities for our services
in Mexico are vast. With over 107 million mobile subscribers in Mexico, 88% of which are under prepaid plans, mobile top-up alone, was a
$12 billion business in 2014 as reported by PwC Telecom in Mexico 2015, America Móvil 4Q’15. We believe that there is opportunity for
growth in the Mexican market and have expanded our service providers beyond the mobile telephone operators to service providers of
electricity, transportation, utilities, municipal services and taxes, consumer credit installments, insurance premiums, and many more.
Altogether as of the third quarter of 2016 our platform had integrated over 110 such services.
1

Our primary strategy in Mexico to date has been the attraction of service providers as well as the deployment of kiosks through
Redpag Electrónicos S.A.P.I. de C.V., our kiosk management subsidiary. During the twelve months ended December 31, 2015 and for the
nine months ended September 30, 2016, Qpagos Corporation generated net revenues of $1,127,944 and $2,026,248, respectively, from our
operations in Mexico. Our primary sources of revenue are sales of prepaid services and payment processing fees. We also generate revenue
from non-payment services such as kiosk sales. Qpagos Corporation currently has in excess of 110 service providers integrated into its
payment gateway, which includes all mobile phone providers in Mexico as well as most utility companies, financial services, entertainment
venues and others. As of December 1, 2016, we have deployed over 201 kiosks and terminals, and we service an additional 450 kiosks of an
independent distributor. Our kiosks and terminals can be found at convenience stores, next to metro stations, retail stores, airport terminals,
education centers, and malls in major urban centers, as well as many small and rural towns.
In addition, we have developed an electronic wallet which should enable consumers to hold balances in its kiosks for future use or
to receive change. Launched in the first quarter of 2016 customers can now use cash and/or stored value to pay for goods and services
across physical or virtual environments interchangeably. Also in the first quarter of 2016, we launched our mobile app by which smart
phone users can now access the exact menu of services available in our kiosks and make payments from the convenience of their phones.
Cash is uploaded to the electronic wallet app via kiosks.
We believe that our platform provides simple and intuitive user interfaces, convenient access and best-in-class services. We run
our network and process its transactions using a proprietary, advanced technology platform that leverages the latest virtualization, analytics
and security technologies to create a fast, highly reliable, secure and redundant system. We believe that the breadth and reach of our
network, along with the proprietary nature of its technology platform, differentiate us from our competitors and allow us to effectively
manage and update our services and realize significant operating leverage with growth in volumes.
Management Discussion and Analysis of financial condition
The discussion and analysis of the Company’s financial condition and results of operations are based upon the consolidated
financial statements as of September 30, 2016 and 2015, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States. The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States requires QPAGOS to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure of
any contingent liabilities at the financial statement date and reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. On an
on-going basis we review our estimates and assumptions. The estimates are based on our historical experience and other assumptions that
we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results are likely to differ from those estimates under different assumptions or
conditions.
Results of Operations for the Three Months Ended September 30, 2016 and September 30, 2015
Net revenue
Net revenues were $769,897 and $363,580 for the three months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015 respectively, an increase of
$406,317 or 111.8%. Qpagos operates in Mexico and its functional currency is the Mexican Peso. Qpagos revenue in Mexican Pesos
increased to MXN 14,426,090 from MXN 5,973,219 for the three months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively, an increase of
MXN 8,452,871 or 141.5%. The increase in revenue in MXN Pesos is primarily due to an increase in the volume of prepaid services sold
from MXN 3,587,689 for the three months ended September 30, 2015 to MXN 13,808,490 for the three months ended September 30, 2016,
the increased deployment of kiosks during the current period, and we also increased the number of our customers over the prior year. The
average US $ exchange rate has strengthened against the MXN Peso over the prior period, from $16.4289 to $18.7377 or 14.1%, which
results in a lower revenue growth in US $ terms of $108,195.
Cost of goods sold
Cost of goods sold was $736,021 and $311,779 for the three months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively, an increase
of $424,242 or 136.1%. Qpagos’ cost of goods sold in Mexican Pesos increased to MXN 13,791,347 from MXN 5,122,194 for the three
months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively, an increase of MXN 8,669,153 or 169.2%. The increase in cost of goods sold in
MXN Pesos is primarily due to the increase in the volume of prepaid services sold. Cost of goods sold consists primarily of services
acquired from third parties, such as prepaid services and the cost of the kiosks and any retrofitted components. The average US $ exchange
rate has strengthened against the MXN Peso over the prior period, from $16.4289 to $18.7377 or 14.1%, which results in a lower cost of
sales in US $ terms of approximately $103,435.
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Gross profit
Gross profit was $33,876 and $51,801 for the three months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively, a decrease in gross
profit of $17,925 or 34.6%. The decrease in gross profit as a percentage of revenue to 4.4% from 14.2% for the three months ended
September 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively is primarily due to the volume of wholesale service sales which is at low margins due to the
growth in our wholesale customer base, which offsets the higher margins we earn on our kiosk sales and services and payment processing
fees we earn on the Company owned kiosks.
Total expenses
Total expenses were $555,501 and $369,193 for the three months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively, an increase of
$186,308 or 50.5%.
Total expenses consisted primarily of the following:
a.

General and administrative expenditure was $536,156 and $360,610 for the three months September 30, 2016 and 2015,
respectively, an increase of $175,546 or 48.7%. QPAGOS has operations in Mexico and a US holding company presence which
incurs some expenditure.
i.

The general and administrative expenditure in Mexico was $370,293 and $333,902 for the three months ended September
30, 2016 and 2015, respectively, an increase of $36,391 or 10.9%. This increase was partially offset by $52,038, which can
be attributed to the weakening of the MXN Peso against the US Dollar over the prior period by 14.1%. The expenses in
Mexican Pesos increased to MXN 6,938,430 from MXN 5,485,645 for the three months ended September 30, 2016 and
2015, respectively, an increase of MXN 1,452,785 or 26.5%. The increase is primarily due to:
a) an increase in the provision for bad debt of MXN 1,629,613;
b) an increase in consulting fees of MXN 84,814;
c) offset by a decrease in payroll and related costs of 16% as part of the Company’s effort to control cost and
streamline the business;
d) Further offset by a reduction of other minor overhead expenses.
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b.

The general and administrative expenditure in the US was $165,864 and $26,708 for the three months ended September 30,
2016 and 2015 respectively, there was minimal US infrastructure in the prior year. The US expenditures are primarily due
to:
a) Audit fees of $10,000 relating to the audit for the year ended December 31, 2015 and 2014.
b) Legal fees of 8,309 related to general corporate matters.
c) Consulting fees of $101,637 related to our information technology and $24,750 related to accounting services.

Depreciation and amortization was $19,345 and $8,583 for the three months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively, an
increase of $10,762 or 125.4%, the increase is primarily due to the amortization of the software license agreements entered into
which have an estimated useful life of 5 years.

Other income
Other income was $636 and $0 for the three months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively.
Interest expense, net
Interest expense of $3,025 during the three months ended September 30, 2016 consists primarily of interest on a loan due to YP
Holdings. This loan with a principal balance of $100,000 remains outstanding and earns interest at 12% per annum.
Foreign currency loss
The foreign currency loss was $101,854 and $205,179 for the three months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively, a
decrease of $103,325. The decrease is primarily due to the conversion of US Dollar denominated loans in the prior year into equity prior to
the current quarter. We continue to experience foreign currency losses on other US$ denominated liabilities, such as intercompany balances
due to the strengthening of the US $ exchange rate from an average of $16.4289 for the quarter ended September 30, 2015 to $18.7377 for
the quarter ended September 30, 2016, a strengthening of 14.1%.
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Net loss
We incurred a net loss of $625,868 and $522,571, for the three months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively, an
increase of $103,297 or approximately 19.8%, primarily due to the increased operating expenses discussed above.
Results of Operations for the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2016 and September 30, 2015
Net revenue
Net revenues were $2,026,248 and $525,050 for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015 respectively, an increase of
$1,501,198 or 285.9%. Qpagos operates in Mexico and its functional currency is the Mexican Peso. Qpagos’ revenue in Mexican Pesos
increased to MXN 37,115,585 from MXN 8,443,126 for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively, an increase of
MXN 28,672,459 or 339.6%. The increase in revenue in MXN Pesos is primarily due to an increase in the volume of prepaid services sold
from MXN 5,232,913 in the nine months ended September 30, 2015 to MXN 33,557,400 in the nine months ended September 30, 2016 the
increased deployment of kiosks during the current year, and we also increased the number of our customers over the prior year. The
average US $ exchange rate has strengthened against the MXN Peso over the prior period, from $15.6623 to $18.2859 or 16.8%, which
results in a lower revenue growth in US $ terms of $343,492.
Cost of goods sold
Cost of goods sold was $1,942,957 and $455,715 for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively, an
increase of $1,487,242 or 326.4%. Qpagos’ cost of goods sold in Mexican Pesos increased to MXN 35,588,077 from MXN 7,293,645 for
the nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively, an increase of MXN 28,294,432 or 387.9%. The increase in cost of
goods sold in MXN Pesos is primarily due to the increase in the volume of prepaid services sold. Cost of goods sold consists primarily of
services acquired from third parties, such as prepaid air time and the cost of the kiosks and any retrofitted component. The average US $
exchange rate has strengthened against the MXN Peso over the prior period, from $15.6623 to $18.2859 or 16.8%, which results in a lower
cost of sales in US $ terms of approximately $329,255.
Gross profit
Gross profit was $83,291 and $69,335 for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively, an increase in profit
of $13,956 or 20.1%. The decrease in gross profit as a percentage of revenue to 4.1% from 13.2% for the nine months ended September 30,
2016 and 2015, respectively is primarily due to the volume of wholesale service sales which is at low margins due to the growth in our
wholesale customer base, which offsets the higher margins we earn on our kiosk sales and services and payment processing fees we earn on
the Company owned kiosks.
Total expenses
Total expenses were $3,903,832 and $1,179,484 for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively, an increase
of $2,724,348 or 231.0%.
Total expenses consisted primarily of the following:
a.

General and administrative expenditure was $3,845,798 and $1,153,981 for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015,
respectively, an increase of $2,691,817 or 233.3%. Qpagos has operations in Mexico and a US holding company presence which
incurs some expenditure.
i.

The general and administrative expenditure in Mexico was $1,052,495 and $1,127,273 for the nine months ended
September 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively, a decrease of $74,778 or 6.6%, of this decrease, $30,809 can be attributed to
the weakening of the MXN Peso against the US Dollar over the prior period by 16.8%. The expenses in Mexican Pesos
increased to MXN 19,257,597 from MXN 17,603,865 for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015,
respectively, an increase of MXN 1,653,732 or 9.4%. The increase is primarily due to:
a) an increase in the provision for bad debt of MXN 1,629,613;
b) an increase in consulting fees of MXN 225,685;
c) offset by a decrease in payroll and related costs of 3.6% as part of the Company’s effort to control cost and
streamline the business;
d) further offset by a reduction of other minor overhead expenses.

ii. The general and administrative expenditure in the US was $2,793,300 and $26,708 for the nine months ended September
30, 2016 and 2015 respectively, there were no significant US infrastructure in the prior year. The increase is primarily due
to:
a) Consulting fees expensed of $2,032,275 relating to consulting agreements entered into with various parties to
assist us in developing the Mexican market, these consulting fees were settled by the issue of 2,572,500 shares of
common stock of Qpagos Corporation which were exchanged for 5,145,000 shares of our Common Stock upon
consummation of the reverse merger.
b) Executive salaries and consulting fees related to our information technology of $301,591 and $78,000 related to
accounting services.
c) Audit fees of $80,000 relating to the audit for the year ended December 31, 2015 and 2014.

d) Legal fees of $63,797 primarily due to the reverse merger of the Company
e) Restricted stock awards of $144,000 related to the value of restricted stock issued to management in the prior year
which was fully vested on April 30, 2016.
b.

Depreciation and amortization was $58,034 and $25,503 for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively, an
increase of $32,531 or 127.6%, the increase is primarily due to the amortization of the license agreements entered into which have
an estimated useful life of 5 years.
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Other income
Other income totaled $4,651 and $471 for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively.
Interest expense, net
Interest expense of $9,008 during the nine months ended September 30, 2016 consists primarily of interest on a loan due to YP
Holdings. This loan with a principal balance of $100,000 remains outstanding and earns interest at 12% per annum.
Foreign currency loss
The foreign currency loss was $216,699 and $418,368 for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively, a
decrease of $201,669. The decrease is primarily due to the conversion of US Dollar denominated loans in the prior year into equity prior to
the current quarter. The Company continues to experience foreign currency losses on other US$ denominated liabilities, such as
intercompany balances due to the strengthening of the US $ exchange rate from an average of $16.6623 for the nine months ended
September 30, 2015 to $18.2859 for the nine months ended September 30, 2016, a strengthening of 9.7%.
Net loss
We incurred a net loss of $4,041,597 and $1,528,046, for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively, an
increase of $2,513,551 or approximately 164.5%, and which consist of the various items discussed above.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
To date, our primary sources of cash have been funds raised from the sale of its securities and the issuance of debt as well as
revenue derived from operations.
We incurred an accumulated deficit of $8,031,286 through September 30, 2016 and incurred negative cash flow from operations of
$1,342,098 for the nine months ended September 30, 2016. We have spent, and need to continue to spend, substantial amounts in
connection with implementing our business strategy, including our planned product development effort and will be required to raise
additional funding.
We will need to generate additional revenue from operations and/or obtain additional financing to pursue our business strategy,
repay our outstanding note obligations and take advantage of business opportunities that may arise. To meet our financing needs, we are
considering multiple alternatives, including, but not limited to, additional equity financings and, debt financings and/or funding from
partnerships. There can be no assurance that we will be able to complete any such transactions on acceptable terms or otherwise ad may
have to significantly curtail our operations.
At September 30, 2016, we had cash of $25,638 and a working capital of $543,545. We believe that the current cash balances
together with revenue anticipated to be generated from operations will not be sufficient to meet our current working capital needs and as
mentioned above, we will seek further funding from either equity issues or further debt funding, should we not be successful, we may have
to curtail our operations significantly.
We utilized cash of $1,342,098, and $1,646,211 in operating activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015,
respectively, a decrease of $304,113 or 18.5%. Primarily due to an additional $387,737 increase in cash operating expenditure before
working capital changes offset by an improvement in working capital flows from a cash expenditure of $310,403 in the prior year to a net
cash release of $364,302 during the current period, an improvement of $674,686.
We had minimal investment in property and equipment of $453 and $3,975 for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 and
2015.
We funded our operations by utilizing our cash balances and raising an additional $330,000 by the issue of common securities to
certain investors in a private placement and an additional $60,000 was raised in debt issuances.
Subsequent to September 30, 2016 we raised the following funds:
·

·

an additional $225,000 was raised in debt issuances from five investors. The investors were issued notes in the aggregate
principal amount of $225,000 that bear interest at a rate of 10% per annum and mature between February 13, 2017 and
November 23, 2017, we will need to generate additional revenue from operations or raise further debt or equity funding in
the next two months to repay these notes.
An additional $45,000 through the issuance of 60,000 shares of common stock

We have minimal commitments which include a lease of premises, with a future commitment of $8,185 for the year ending
December 31, 2016.
We entered into an additional ten-year licensing agreement with the Licensor on May 1, 2015, whereby we are committed to pay
an annual license fee in quarterly installments of $5,000 ($20,000 per annum) to the Licensor for an exclusive license for the Mexican
market of certain revenue payment services.
Our primary financial commitments as of the date hereof are payments owed under the License Agreement. The minimum

commitments due under the license agreement is summarized as follows:
Amount
2016
2017
2018
2019
2020 and thereafter

$

$

5

5,100
20,100
20,100
20,100
107,167
172,567

Off Balance Sheet Arrangements
None
Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risks
None.
Item 4. Controls and Procedures
(a) Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures Pursuant to Rule 13a-15(b) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (“Exchange
Act”), the Company carried out an evaluation, with the participation of the Company’s management, including the Company’s Chief
Executive Officer (“CEO”) and Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”), of the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures
(as defined under Rule 13a-15(e) under the Exchange Act) as of the end of the period covered by this report. Based upon that evaluation,
the Company’s CEO and CFO concluded that due to a lack of segregation of duties and insufficient controls over review and accounting for
certain complex transactions, that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures as of September 30, 2016 were not effective to ensure
that information required to be disclosed by the Company in the reports that the Company files or submits under the Exchange Act, was
recorded, processed, summarized and reported, within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and that such information is
accumulated and communicated to the Company’s management, including the Company’s CEO and CFO, as appropriate, to allow timely
decisions regarding required disclosure. The Company intends to retain additional individuals to remedy the ineffective controls. We have
begun to take actions that we believe will substantially remediate the material weaknesses identified. In response to the identification of our
material weaknesses, we are in the process of expanding our finance and accounting staff. However, we cannot assure you that our internal
control over financial reporting, as modified, will enable us to identify or avoid material weaknesses in the future.
(b) Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
There has been no change in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) of the Exchange Act)
that occurred during our fiscal quarter ended September 30, 2016 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect,
our internal control over financial reporting.
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Part II. OTHER INFORMATION
Item 1. Legal Proceedings
From time to time we may become involved in legal proceedings or be subject to claims arising in the ordinary course of our business. We
are not presently a party to any legal proceedings that, if determined adversely to us, would individually or taken together have a material
adverse effect on our business, operating results, financial condition or cash flows. Regardless of the outcome, litigation can have an
adverse impact on us because of defense and settlement costs, diversion of management resources and other factors.
Item 1A. Risk Factors
Investing in our Company involves a high degree of risk. In addition to the risks related to our business set forth in this Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q, you should carefully consider the risks described below before investing in us. Additional risks, uncertainties and other factors
not presently known to us or that we currently deem immaterial may also impair our business operations.
Risks Related to our Business
Risks Relating to Our Business and Industry
We have had limited operations to date.
Qpagos’ Corporation’s subsidiaries were incorporated in November 2013 and began deploying kiosks in Mexico in November
2014. As such, we have a very limited operating history. We have yet to demonstrate our ability to overcome the risks frequently
encountered in the payment services industry and are still subject to many of the risks common to early stage companies, including the
uncertainty as to our ability to implement our business plan, market acceptance of our proposed business and services, under-capitalization,
cash shortages, limitations with respect to personnel, financing and other resources and uncertainty of our ability to generate revenues.
There is no assurance that our activities will be successful or will result in any revenues or profit, and the likelihood of our success must be
considered in light of the stage of our development. There can be no assurance that we will be able to consummate our business strategy
and plans, or that financial, technological, market, or other limitations may force us to modify, alter, significantly delay, or significantly
impede the implementation of such plans. We have insufficient results for investors to use to identify historical trends. Investors should
consider our prospects in light of the risk, expenses and difficulties we will encounter as an early stage company. Our revenue and income
potential is unproven and our business model is continually evolving. We are subject to the risks inherent to the operation of a new business
enterprise, and cannot assure you that we will be able to successfully address these risks.
The condensed consolidated financial statements of QPAGOS have been prepared assuming that it will continue as a going concern.
QPAGOS’ operating losses, negative cash flows from operations and limited alternative sources of revenue raise substantial doubt
about its ability to continue as a going concern. The condensed consolidated financial statements of QPAGOS for the three months and
nine months ended September 30, 2016 do not include any adjustments that might result from the outcome of this uncertainty. If we or
Qpagos Corporation cannot raise adequate capital on acceptable terms or generate sufficient revenue from operations, we and Qpagos
Corporation will need to revise our business plans.
We may continue to generate operating losses and experience negative cash flows and it is uncertain whether we will achieve
profitability.
For the nine months ended September 30, 2016 and for the years ended December 31, 2015, we incurred a net loss of $4.0 million
and $2.5 million, respectively. We have an accumulated deficit of $8.0 million through September 30, 2016. We expect to continue to incur
operating losses until such time, if ever, as we are able to achieve sufficient levels of revenue from operations. There can be no assurance
that we will ever generate significant sales or achieve profitability. Accordingly, the extent of future losses and the time required to achieve
profitability, if ever, cannot be predicted at this point.
We also expect to experience negative cash flows for the foreseeable future as we fund our operating losses. As a result, we will
need to generate significant revenues or raise additional financing in order to achieve and maintain profitability. We may not be able to
generate these revenues or achieve profitability in the future. Our failure to achieve or maintain profitability would likely negatively impact
the value of our securities and financing activities.
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The payment services industry is highly competitive, and we have a number of competitors that are larger and have greater financial
and other resources.
The payment services industry is highly competitive, and our continued growth depends on our ability to compete effectively.
Although we do not face direct competition from any competitor in exactly the same line of business, we face competition from a variety of
financial and non-financial business groups. These competitors include retail banks, non-traditional payment service providers, such as
retailers and mobile network operators, traditional kiosk and terminal operators and electronic payment system operators, as well as other
companies that provide various forms of payment services, including electronic payment and payment processing services. Competitors in
our industry seek to differentiate themselves by features and functionalities such as speed, convenience, network size, accessibility, hours of
operation, reliability and price. A significant number of our competitors have greater financial, technological and marketing resources than
we have, operate robust networks and are highly regarded by consumers.
There is uncertainty as to market acceptance of our technology and services.
We have conducted our own research into the markets for our services; however, because we are a new entrant into the market, we
cannot guarantee market acceptance of our services and have somewhat limited information on which to estimate our anticipated level of
sales. Our services require consumers and service providers to adopt our technology. Our industry is susceptible to rapid technological
developments and there can be no assurance that we will be able to match any new technological advances. If we are unable to match the
technological changes in the needs of our customers the demand for our products will be reduced.
The technology upon which our business is dependent is licensed from a third party under the terms of a ten year license agreement,
which if terminated, would result in the cessation of our business operations.
The license with Janor Enterprises Ltd. (Janor) is for the rights to use three software programs upon which our business is
completely dependent. The agreement is for a term of ten years, and may be extended for an additional ten years but may be terminated
early by Janor if we fail to comply with its terms and conditions or make certain payments. The rights to the licensed programs terminate
upon expiration or termination of the agreement. We have no guarantee that Janor will renew our agreement upon expiration of the
extended term. If we are not able to maintain this license, we would have to cease operations unless we have developed or secured the
rights to technology that would provide the same functionality and we are able to reconfigure our installed base of kiosks, terminals and
other system infrastructure to work with the new technology. These hurdles would be extremely expensive and time consuming, and it is
unlikely that we would be able stay in business.
Our exclusive right to the technology that we license is subject to forfeiture if we fail to make certain quarterly payments.
The technology that we license from Janor is licensed pursuant to the terms of a license agreement. Subject to us making quarterly
payments of $5,000 per quarter, Janor has agreed that neither it nor any of its subsidiary or affiliated entity will install a terminal and/or
kiosk that incorporates the Programs or a technology having the same or a similar effect nor will they provide any person or entity with the
right to install a terminal and/or kiosk in Mexico that incorporates the Programs or a technology having the same or a similar effect;
provided; however, If we should fail to make the quarterly payments, there is no prohibition from Janor licensing the same technology to
another entity in Mexico that could compete with us. If Janor were to license the same technology to a third party our competitive position
in Mexico could be substantially harmed.
We rely on one outside vendor for the supply of key kiosk parts and the partial or complete loss of this supplier could cause customer
supply or production delays and as a result potentially a loss of revenues.
We rely on one outside vendor based outside Mexico to manufacture substantial portions of critical hardware that are used with or
included in our kiosks. Although there are other suppliers that could supply the hardware required for the kiosks, we do not have a contract
with such other suppliers and therefore, if our present vendor was to delay or terminate its performance, our business would likely be
disrupted.
Our reliance on this vendor is expected to continue and involves other risks, including our limited control over the availability of
components, delivery schedules, pricing and product quality. We may experience delays, additional expenses and lost sales as a result of
our dependency upon this vendor. Although we expect that other existing vendors would be able to supply us with any needed products if
this vendor was to cease or interrupt production or otherwise fail to supply us with an adequate supply of required parts, if these other
existing vendors were unable to supply us in a timely manner, or on comparable terms, our business could be materially adversely
impacted.
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Our reliance on outside suppliers for our kiosk hardware involves several risks, including the following:
·

our suppliers of required parts may cease or interrupt production or otherwise fail to supply us with an adequate supply of
required parts for a number of reasons, including contractual disputes with our supplier or adverse financial developments at or
affecting the supplier;

·

we have reduced control over the pricing of third party-supplied materials, and our supplier may be unable or unwilling to
supply us with required materials on commercially acceptable terms, or at all;

·

we have reduced control over the timely delivery of third party-supplied materials; and

·

our suppliers may be unable to develop technologically advanced products to support our growth and development of new
systems.

Disruptions in international trade and finance or in transportation also may have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition and results of operation. Any significant disruption in our operations for any reason, such as regulatory requirements,
scheduling delays, quality control problems, loss of certifications, power interruptions, fires, hurricanes, war or threats of terrorism, labor
strikes, contract disputes, could adversely affect our sales and customer relationships. In addition, in the event of a breach of law by a
vendor based outside of Mexico or a breach of a contractual obligation that has an adverse effect upon our operations, we may have little or
no recourse because all of our vendors’ assets could be located in a foreign country, such as Russia, Italy, Germany, Canada or the People’s
Republic of China where it may not be possible to effect service of process and uncertainty exists as to whether the courts in such foreign
jurisdiction would recognize or enforce a judgment of a Mexican court obtained against the vendor.
We are subject to the economic risk and business cycles of our merchants and agents and the overall level of consumer spending.
The payment services industry depends heavily on the overall level of consumer spending. We are exposed to general economic
conditions that affect consumer confidence, consumer spending, consumer discretionary income or changes in consumer purchasing habits.
Economic factors such as employment levels, business conditions, energy and fuel costs, interest rates, and inflation rate could reduce
consumer spending or change consumer purchasing habits. A reduction in the amount of consumer spending could result in a decrease in
our revenue and profits. If our merchants make fewer sales of their products and services using our services or consumers spend less money
per transaction, we will have fewer transactions to process at lower amounts, resulting in lower revenue. Weakening in the Mexican
economy could have a negative impact on our merchants, as well as consumers who purchase products and services using our payment
processing systems, which could, in turn, negatively impact our business, financial condition and results of operations, particularly if the
recessionary environment disproportionately affects some of the market segments that represent a larger portion of our payment processing
volume. In addition, these factors could force some of our merchants and/or agents to liquidate their operations or go bankrupt, or could
cause our agents to reduce the number of their locations or hours of operation, resulting in reduced transaction volumes. We also have a
certain amount of fixed costs, including salaries and rent, which could limit our ability to adjust costs and respond quickly to changes
affecting the economy and our business.
We do not control the rates of the fees levied by Qpagos Corporation’s agents on consumers.
Qpagos Corporation’s agents pay it an agreed fee using a portion of the fees levied by them on consumers. The fee paid to Qpagos
Corporation by the agent is based on a percentage of the value of each transaction that Qpagos Corporation’s processes or a fixed rate per
transaction. However, in most cases the amount of fees levied by an agent on a consumer for each particular transaction is determined by
such agent at its own discretion. Qpagos Corporation usually does not cap the amount of such fees or otherwise control it. We believe that
the fees set by agents are market-driven, and that our interests and Qpagos Corporation’s agents’ interests are aligned with a view to
maintaining fees at a level that would simultaneously result in our agents’ profitability and customer satisfaction. However, we can provide
no assurance that agents will not raise fees to a level that will adversely affect the popularity of our services among consumers. At the same
time, if Qpagos Corporation is forced to cap customer fees to protect the strength of our brand or otherwise, it may lose a significant
number of agents, which would reduce the penetration of our physical distribution network. In limited instances, we have introduced such
caps at the request of our merchants. No assurance can be made that this trend will not increase. Material increases in customer fees by our
agents or the imposition of caps on the rates of such fees by us could have an adverse effect on the business, financial condition and results
of operations.
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If consumer confidence in our business deteriorates, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely
affected.
Our business is built on consumers’ confidence in our brands, as well as our ability to provide fast, reliable payment services. As a
consumer business, the strength of our brand and reputation are of paramount importance to us. A number of factors could adversely affect
consumer confidence in our brand, many of which are beyond our control, and could have an adverse impact on our results of operations.
These factors include:
·

any regulatory action or investigation against us;

·

any significant interruption to our systems and operations; and

·

any breach of our security system or any compromises of consumer data.

In addition, we are largely dependent on our agents and, in the future, will be dependent, on franchisees to which we license our
products to maintain the reputation of our brand. Despite the measures that we put in place to ensure their compliance with our performance
standards, our lack of control over their operations may result in the low quality of service of a particular agent or franchisee being
attributed to our brand, negatively affecting our overall reputation. Furthermore, negative publicity surrounding any assertion that our
agents and/or merchants are implicated in fraudulent transactions, irrespective of the accuracy of such publicity or its connection with our
current operations or business, could harm our reputation. Any event that hurts our brand and reputation among consumers as a reliable
payment services provider could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
A decline in the use of cash as a means of payment may result in a decline in the use of our kiosks and terminals.
Substantially all of our operations are in Mexico where a substantial part of the population relies on cash payments rather than
credit and debit card payments or electronic banking. We believe that consumers making cash payments are more likely to use our kiosks
and terminals than where alternative payment methods are available. As a result, we believe that our profitability depends on the use of
cash as a means of payment. There can be no assurance that over time, the prevalence of cash payments in Mexico will not decline as a
greater percentage of the population adopts credit and debit card payments and electronic banking. The shift from cash payments to credit
and debit card payments and electronic banking could reduce our market share and payment volumes and may have a material adverse
effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
Our business operations are geographically concentrated and could be significantly affected by any adverse change in the regions in
which we operate.
Our business operations are located substantially in Mexico. While Qpagos Corporation recently invested in a company
performing similar services in the United States and we may expand our business to new geographic regions, we are and will continue to
still be highly concentrated in Mexico. Because to date we derive all of our total revenues from our operations in Mexico and expect to
continue to derive a significant portion of our revenue from operations in Mexico for the near future, our business is exposed to adverse
regulatory and competitive changes, economic downturns and changes in political conditions in Mexico. Moreover, due to the
concentration of our businesses in Mexico, our business is less diversified and, accordingly, is subject to greater regional risks than some of
our competitors.
We are not currently subject to extensive government regulation; however, we could be subject to extensive government regulation, and
there can be no guarantee that new regulations applicable to our business will not be enacted.
Currently our business is not impacted by government regulation; however, we may be subject to a variety of regulations aimed at
preventing money laundering and financing criminal activity and terrorism, financial services regulations, payment services regulations,
consumer protection laws, currency control regulations, advertising laws and privacy and data protection laws and therefore experience
periodic investigations by various regulatory authorities in connection with the same, which may sometimes result in monetary or other
sanctions being imposed on us. Many of these laws and regulations are constantly evolving, and are often unclear and inconsistent with
other applicable laws and regulations making compliance challenging and increasing our related operating costs and legal risks. In
particular, there has been increased public attention and heightened legislation and regulations regarding money laundering and terrorist
financing. We may have to make significant judgment calls in applying anti-money laundering legislation and risk being found in noncompliance with such laws.
If local authorities in Mexico choose to enforce specific interpretations of the applicable legislation that differ from ours or enact
new laws, we may be found to be in violation and subject to penalties or other liabilities. This could also limit our ability in effecting such
payments going forward and may increase our cost of doing business.
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In addition, there is significant uncertainty regarding future legislation on taxation of electronic payments in Mexico, including the
place of taxation. Subsequent legislation and regulation and interpretations thereof, litigation, court rulings, or other events could expose us
to increased costs, liability and reputational damage that could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results
of operations.
We may not be able to complete or integrate successfully any potential future acquisitions, partnerships or joint ventures.
From time-to-time, we may evaluate possible acquisition transactions, partnerships or joint ventures, some of which may be
material. Potential future acquisitions, partnerships and joint ventures may pose significant risks to our existing operations if they cannot be
successfully integrated. These projects would place additional demands on our managerial, operational, financial and other resources,
create operational complexity requiring additional personnel and other resources and require enhanced control procedures. In addition, we
may not be able to successfully finance or integrate any businesses, services or technologies that we acquire or with which we form a
partnership or joint venture. Furthermore, the integration of any acquisition may divert management’s time and resources from our core
business and disrupt our operations. Moreover, even if we were successful in integrating newly acquired assets, expected synergies or cost
savings may not materialize, resulting in lower than expected benefits to us from such transactions. We may spend time and money on
projects that do not increase our revenue. Additionally, when making acquisitions it may not be possible for us to conduct a detailed
investigation of the nature of the assets being acquired due to, for instance, time constraints in making the decision and other factors. We
may become responsible for additional liabilities or obligations not foreseen at the time of an acquisition. In addition, in connection with
any acquisitions, we must comply with various antitrust requirements. It is possible that perceived or actual violations of these requirements
could give rise to regulatory enforcement action or result in us not receiving all necessary approvals in order to complete a desired
acquisition. To the extent we pay the purchase price of any acquisition in cash, it would reduce our cash reserves, and to the extent the
purchase price is paid with our stock, it could be dilutive to our stockholders. To the extent we pay the purchase price with proceeds from
the incurrence of debt, it would increase our level of indebtedness and could negatively affect our liquidity and restrict our operations. All
of the above risks could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition, and prospects.
As our business develops we will need to implement enhanced compliance processes, procedures and controls with respect to the rules
and regulations that apply to our business.
Our success requires significant public confidence in our ability to handle large and growing payment volumes and amounts of
consumer funds, as well as comply with applicable regulatory requirements. Any failure to manage consumer funds or to comply with
applicable regulatory requirements could result in the imposition of fines, harm our reputation and significantly diminish use of our
products. In addition, if we are not in compliance with anti-corruption laws and other laws governing the conduct of business with
government entities and/or officials (including local laws), we may be subject to criminal and civil penalties and other remedial measures,
which could have an adverse impact on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.
If we cannot keep pace with rapid developments and change in our industry and provide new services to our clients, the use of our
services could decline, reducing our revenues.
The payment services industry in which we operate is characterized by rapid technological change, new product and service
introductions, evolving industry standards, changing customer needs and the entrance of more established market players seeking to expand
into these businesses. In order to remain competitive, we continually seek to expand the services we offer and to develop new projects,
including, for example, the electronic wallet. These projects carry risks, such as delays in delivery, performance problems and lack of
customer acceptance. In our industry, these risks are acute. Any delay in the delivery of new services or the failure to differentiate our
services or to accurately predict and address market demand could render our services less desirable, or even obsolete, to consumers. In
addition, if alternative payment mechanisms become widely available, substituting our current products and services, and we do not develop
and offer similar alternative payment mechanisms successfully and on a timely basis, our business and prospects could be adversely
affected. Furthermore, we may be unable to recover the costs we have incurred in developing new services. Our development efforts could
result in increased costs and we could also experience a loss in business that could reduce our earnings or could cause a loss of revenue if
promised new services are not timely delivered to our clients, are not able to compete effectively with our competitors’ or do not perform
as anticipated. If we are unable to develop, adapt to or access technological changes or evolving industry standards on a timely and cost
effective basis, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be materially adversely affected.
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Our systems and our third party providers’ systems may fail due to factors beyond our control, which could interrupt our service, cause
us to lose business and increase our costs.
We depend on the efficient and uninterrupted operation of numerous systems, including our computer systems, software and
telecommunications networks, as well as the data centers that we lease from third parties. We only have one data center in central Mexico
that controls our operations and hosts our main equipment. Our systems and operations, or those of our third party providers, could be
exposed to damage or interruption from, among other things, fire, flood, natural disaster, power loss, telecommunications failure, vendor
failure, unauthorized entry, improper operation and computer viruses. Substantial property and equipment loss, and disruption in
operations, as well as any defects in our systems or those of third parties or other difficulties could expose us to liability and materially
adversely impact our business, financial condition and results of operations. In addition, any outage or disruptive efforts to our data center
would result in the failure of our computers and kiosks to operate and would, if for an extensive period of time, adversely impact our
reputation, brand and future prospects.
Unauthorized disclosure of data, whether through cybersecurity breaches, computer viruses or otherwise, could expose us to liability,
protracted and costly litigation and damage our reputation.
We store and/or transmit sensitive data, such as mobile phone numbers, and we have ultimate liability to our consumers for our
failure to protect this data. If breaches occur our encryption of data and other protective measures may not prevent unauthorized disclosure
of data. Unauthorized disclosure of data or a cybersecurity breach could harm our reputation and deter clients from using electronic
payments as well as kiosks and terminals generally and our services specifically, increase our operating expenses in order to correct the
breaches or failures, expose us to uninsured liability, increase our risk of regulatory scrutiny, subject us to lawsuits, result in the imposition
of material penalties and fines by state authorities and otherwise materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of
operations.
Customer complaints or negative publicity about our customer service could affect attractiveness of our services adversely and, as a
result, could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
Customer complaints or negative publicity about our customer service could diminish consumer confidence in, and the
attractiveness of, our services. Breaches of our consumers’ privacy and our security systems could have the same effect. We sometimes
take measures to combat risks of fraud and breaches of privacy and security, such as freezing consumer funds, which could damage
relations with our consumers. These measures heighten the need for prompt and attentive customer service to resolve irregularities and
disputes. Effective customer service requires significant personnel expense, and this expense, if not managed properly, could impact our
profitability significantly. Any inability by us to manage or train our customer service representatives properly could compromise our
ability to handle customer complaints effectively. If we do not handle customer complaints effectively, our reputation may suffer, and we
may lose our customers’ confidence, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of
operations.
Qpagos Corporation’s agreements with our agents and our merchants do not include exclusivity clauses and may be terminated
unilaterally at any time or upon short notice.
Qpagos Corporation normally does not include exclusivity clauses in its agreements with agents or merchants, which is standard in
the payment services industry. Accordingly, merchants and agents do not have any restrictions on dealings with other providers and can
switch from Qpagos Corporation’s payment processing system to another without significant investment. The termination of contracts with
existing agents or merchants or a significant decline in the amount of business we do with them as a result of contracts not having
exclusivity clauses could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
Our payment system might be used for fraudulent, illegal or improper purposes, which could expose us to additional liability and harm
our business.
Despite measures we have taken and continue to take, our payment system remains susceptible to potentially illegal or improper
uses. These may include use of our payment services in connection with fraudulent sales of goods or services, illicit sales of prescription
medications or controlled substances, software and other intellectual property piracy, money laundering, bank fraud and prohibited sales of
restricted products. In the past there have been news articles on how organized crime groups have used other payment services to transfer
money in the course of illegal transactions.
Criminals are using increasingly sophisticated methods to engage in illegal activities such as counterfeiting and fraud. It is possible
that incidents of fraud could increase in the future. Our risk management policies and procedures may not be fully effective to identify,
monitor and manage these risks. We are not able to monitor in each case the sources for our counterparties’ funds or the ways in which
they use them. Increases in chargebacks or other liability could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and
results of operations. Furthermore, an increase in fraudulent transactions or publicity regarding chargeback disputes could harm our
reputation and reduce consumer confidence in the use of our kiosks and electronic wallets.
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We are subject to fluctuations in currency exchange rates.
We are exposed to currency risks. Our financial statements are expressed in U.S. dollars, while its revenues and expenses are in
Mexican pesos. Accordingly, its results of operations and assets and liabilities are exposed to fluctuations in exchange rates between the
U.S. dollar and the Mexican peso. In addition, changes in currency exchange rates also affect the carrying value of assets on the balance
sheet, which may result in a decline in the dollar amount of our total assets on the balance sheet. During the year ended December 31,
2015, we incurred a foreign currency loss of ($ 466,920) attributable to the deterioration of the Mexican Peso against the US Dollar.
However, during the nine months ended September 30, 2016, we had a foreign currency loss of $(216,699).
We may not be able to successfully protect the intellectual property we license and may be subject to infringement claims.
We rely on a combination of contractual rights, copyright, trademark and trade secret laws to establish and protect our proprietary
technology. We customarily require our employees and independent contractors to execute confidentiality agreements or otherwise to agree
to keep our proprietary information confidential when their relationship with us begins. Typically, our employment contracts also include
clauses requiring our employees to assign to us all of the inventions and intellectual property rights they develop in the course of their
employment and to agree not to disclose our confidential information. Nevertheless, others, including our competitors, may independently
develop similar technology to that licensed by us, duplicate our services or design around our intellectual property. Further, contractual
arrangements may not prevent unauthorized disclosure of our confidential information or ensure an adequate remedy in the event of any
unauthorized disclosure of our confidential information. Because of the limited protection and enforcement of intellectual property rights in
Mexico, our intellectual property rights may not be as protected as they may be in more developed markets such as the United States. We
may have to litigate to enforce or determine the scope or enforceability of our intellectual property rights (including trade secrets and knowhow), which could be expensive, could cause a diversion of resources and may not prove successful. The loss of intellectual property
protection could harm our business and ability to compete and could result in costly redesign efforts, discontinuance of certain service
offerings or other competitive harm. Additionally, we do not hold any patents for our business model or our business processes, and we do
not currently intend to obtain any such patents in Mexico, the United States or elsewhere.
We may also be subject to costly litigation in the event our services or the technology that we license are claimed to infringe,
misappropriate or otherwise violate any third party’s intellectual property or proprietary rights. Such claims could include patent
infringement, copyright infringement, trademark infringement, trade secret misappropriation or breach of licenses. We may not be able to
successfully defend against such claims, which may result in a limitation on our ability to use the intellectual property subject to these
claims and also might require us to redesign affected services, enter into costly settlement or license agreements, pay costly damage
awards, or face a temporary or permanent injunction prohibiting us from marketing or selling certain of our services. In such
circumstances, if we cannot or do not license the infringed technology on reasonable terms or substitute similar technology from another
source, our revenue and earnings could be adversely impacted. Additionally, in recent years, non-practicing entities have been acquiring
patents, making claims of patent infringement and attempting to extract settlements from companies in our industry. Even if we believe that
such claims are without merit and successfully defend these claims, defending against such claims is time consuming and expensive and
could result in the diversion of the time and attention of our management and employees.
We may use open source software in a manner that could be harmful to our business.
We use open source software in connection with our technology and services. The original developers of the open source code
provide no warranties on such code. Moreover, some open source software licenses require users who distribute open source software as
part of their software to publicly disclose all or part of the source code to such software and/or make available any derivative works of the
open source code on unfavorable terms or at no cost. The use of such open source code may ultimately require us to replace certain code
used in our products, pay a royalty to use some open source code or discontinue certain products. Any of the above requirements could be
harmful to our business, financial condition and operations.
We do not have and may be unable to obtain sufficient insurance to protect ourselves from business risks.
The insurance industry in Mexico is not yet fully developed, and many forms of insurance protection common in more developed
countries are not yet fully available or are not available on comparable or commercially acceptable terms. Accordingly, while we hold
certain mandatory types of insurance policies, we do not currently maintain insurance coverage for business interruption, property damage
or loss of key management personnel, as we have been unable to obtain these on commercially acceptable terms. We do not hold insurance
policies to cover for any losses resulting from counterparty and credit risks or fraudulent transactions. We also do not generally maintain
separate funds or otherwise set aside reserves for most types of business-related risks. Accordingly, our lack of insurance coverage or
reserves with respect to business-related risks may expose us to substantial losses, which could materially adversely affect our business,
financial condition and results of operations.
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In a dynamic industry like ours, the ability to attract, recruit, retain and develop qualified personnel is critical to our success and
growth.
Our business functions at the intersection of rapidly changing technological, social, economic and regulatory developments that
require a wide ranging set of expertise and intellectual capital. In order for us to compete and grow successfully, we must attract, recruit,
retain and develop the necessary personnel who can provide the needed expertise across the entire spectrum of our capital needs. This is
particularly true with respect to qualified and experienced software engineers and IT staff, who are highly sought after and are not in
sufficient supply in Mexico. The market for such personnel is highly competitive, and we may not succeed in recruiting additional
personnel or may fail to replace effectively current personnel who depart with qualified or effective successors. Our efforts to retain and
develop personnel may result in significant additional expenses, which could adversely affect our profitability. We cannot assure you that
we will be able to attract and retain qualified personnel in the future. Failure to retain or attract key personnel could have a material adverse
effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
If we cannot establish profitable operations, we will need to raise additional capital to fully implement our business plan, which may not
be available on commercially reasonable terms, or at all, and which may dilute your investment.
Achieving and sustaining profitability will require us to increase our revenues and manage our operating and administrative
expenses. We cannot guarantee that we will be successful in achieving profitability. If we are unable to generate sufficient revenues to pay
our expenses and our existing sources of cash and cash flows are otherwise insufficient to fund our activities, we will need to raise
additional funds to continue our operations and in order to fully implement our business plan. To date, we have raised an aggregate of
$7,115,187 from the sale of debt and equity securities. We estimate that we will need approximately $3,000,000 to implement our current
business plan and repay our outstanding debt. If we do not generate such revenue from operations, we may be forced to limit our
expansion. Furthermore, if we issue equity or debt securities to raise additional funds, our existing stockholders, may experience dilution,
and the new equity or debt securities may have rights, preferences and privileges senior to those of our existing stockholders. If we are
unsuccessful in achieving profitability, and we cannot obtain additional funds on commercially reasonable terms or at all, we may be
required to curtail significantly or cease its operations, which could result in the loss to investors of their investment in our securities.
The substantial share ownership position of ten of our largest stockholders may limit your ability to influence corporate matters.
As of the date of this Quarterly Report, 10 stockholders own 32,080,199 shares of our Common Stock, representing approximately
58% of the voting power of our issued share capital. As a result of this concentration of share ownership, the 10 stockholders have sole
discretion over certain matters submitted to our stockholders for approval that require a simple majority vote and has significant voting
power on all matters submitted to our stockholders for approval that require a qualified majority vote, including the power to veto them.
This concentration of ownership could delay, deter or prevent a change of control or other business combination, which could negatively
impact the value of our shares. The interests of these 10 stockholders may not always coincide with the interests of our other stockholders.
Certain of our officers may have a conflict of interest.
Certain of our officers are currently working for our Company on a part-time basis. One such officer also works at other jobs and
has discretion to decide what time he devotes to our activities, which may result in a lack of availability when needed due to responsibilities
at other jobs.
Risks Relating to Doing Business in Mexico
Emerging markets, such as Mexico, are subject to greater risks than more developed markets, including significant legal, economic and
political risks.
Investors in emerging markets, such as Mexico, should be aware that these markets are subject to greater risk than more developed
markets, including in some cases significant legal, economic and political risks. Investors should also note that emerging economies are
subject to rapid change and that the information set out herein may become outdated relatively quickly. Accordingly, investors should
exercise particular care in evaluating the risks involved and must decide for themselves whether, in light of those risks, their investment is
appropriate. Generally, investment in emerging markets is only suitable for sophisticated investors who fully appreciate the significance of
the risks involved, and investors are urged to consult with their own legal and financial advisors before making an investment in our
securities.
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Mexican federal governmental policies or regulations, as well as economic, political and social developments in Mexico, could
adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.
Substantially all of our assets and operations are located in Mexico. As a result, we are subject to political, legal and regulatory
risks specific to Mexico, which can have a significant impact on our business, results of operations and financial condition. The Mexican
federal government has exercised, and continues to exercise, significant influence over the Mexican economy. Accordingly, Mexican
federal governmental actions, fiscal and monetary policy could have an impact on Mexican private sector entities, including our Company,
and on market conditions. We cannot predict the impact that political conditions will have on the Mexican economy. Furthermore, our
business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects may be affected by currency fluctuations, price instability, inflation,
interest rates, regulation, taxation, social instability and other political, social and economic developments in or affecting Mexico, over
which we have no control. We cannot assure potential investors that changes in Mexican federal governmental policies will not adversely
affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects. Mexico has recently experienced periods of violence and crime
due to the activities of drug cartels. In response, the Mexican government has implemented various security measures and has strengthened
its police and military forces. Despite these efforts, drug-related crime continues to exist in Mexico. These activities, their possible
escalation and the violence associated with them may have a negative impact on the Mexican economy or on our operations in the future.
The social and political situation in Mexico could adversely affect the Mexican economy, which in turn could have a material adverse effect
on our business, results of operations and financial condition.
We are subject to the risks of doing business internationally.
We currently offer our services in Mexico and therefore our business is subject to risks associated with doing business
internationally, including:
·

trade restrictions and changes in tariffs;

·

the impact of business cycles and downturns in economies outside of the United States;

·

unexpected changes in regulatory requirements that may limit its ability to export its products or sell into particular
jurisdictions;

·

import and export license requirements and restrictions;

·

difficulties in maintaining effective communications with employees and customers due to distance, language and cultural
barriers;

·

disruptions in international transport or delivery;

·

difficulties in protecting our intellectual property rights, particularly in countries where the laws and practices do not
protect proprietary rights to as great an extent as do the laws and practices of the United States;

·

difficulties in enforcing agreements through non-U.S. legal systems;

·

longer payment cycles and difficulties in collecting receivables; and

·

potentially adverse tax consequences.

If any of these risks materialize, our operations could suffer.
Risks Relating to our Securities
There is currently a limited public trading market for our common stock and one may never develop.
There currently is a limited public trading market for our securities, and it is not assured that any such public market will develop
in the foreseeable future. While this is true of any small cap company, the fact that one of our services are provided solely in Mexico, may
make the path to a listing on an exchange or actively traded in the over-the-counter market more problematic. Moreover, there can be no
assurance that even if our common stock is approved for listing on an exchange or is quoted in the over-the-counter market in the future,
that an active trading market will develop or be sustained. Therefore, we cannot predict the prices at which our common stock will trade in
the future, if at all. As a result, our investors may have limited or no ability to liquidate their investments.
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Trading in our common stock is conducted on the OTCQB, as we currently do not meet the initial listing criteria for any registered
securities exchange. The OTCQB and OTC Markets are less recognized markets than the registered securities exchanges and is often
characterized by low trading volume and significant price fluctuations. These and other factors may further impair our stockholders’
ability to sell their shares when they want to and/or could depress our stock price. As a result, stockholders could find it difficult to dispose
of, or obtain accurate quotations of the price of our securities because smaller quantities of shares could be bought and sold, transactions
could be delayed and security analyst and news coverage of our Company may be limited. If a public market for our common stock does
develop, these factors could
The market price of our common stock may be highly volatile and such volatility could cause you to lose some or all of your investment.
The market price of our common stock may fluctuate significantly in response to numerous factors, some of which are beyond our
control, such as:
●

the announcement of new products or product enhancements by us or our competitors;

●

developments concerning intellectual property rights;

●

changes in legal, regulatory, and enforcement frameworks impacting our services;

●

variations in our and our competitors’ results of operations;

●

fluctuations in earnings estimates or recommendations by securities analysts, if our common stock is covered by analysts;

●

the results of intellectual property lawsuits;

●

future issuances of common stock or other securities;

●

the addition or departure of key personnel; and

●

general market conditions and other factors, including factors unrelated to our operating performance.

Further, the stock market has recently experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations. The volatility of our common stock
could be further exacerbated due to low trading volume. Continued market fluctuations could result in extreme volatility in the price of our
common stock, which could cause a decline in the value of our common stock and the loss of some or all of our investors’ investment.
Some or all of the “restricted” shares of our common stock held by our stockholders, including, but not limited to, shares issued in
connection with: (i) our incorporation in 2013 and (ii) our 2015 private placements may be offered from time to time in the open market
pursuant to an effective registration statement under the Securities Act, or without registration pursuant to Rule 144 promulgated
thereunder, and these sales may have a depressive effect on the market price of our common stock.
Because our common stock may be a “penny stock,” it may be more difficult for investors to sell shares of our common stock, and the
market price of our common stock may be adversely affected.
Our common stock may be a “penny stock” if, among other things, the stock price is below $5.00 per share, it is not listed on a
national securities exchange, or it has not met certain net tangible asset or average revenue requirements. Broker-dealers who sell penny
stocks must provide purchasers of these stocks with a standardized risk-disclosure document prepared by the SEC. This risk-disclosure
document provides information about penny stocks and the nature and level of risks involved in investing in the penny-stock market. A
broker must also give a purchaser, orally or in writing, bid and offer quotations and information regarding broker and salesperson
compensation, make a written determination that the penny stock is a suitable investment for the purchaser and obtain the purchaser’s
written agreement to the purchase. Broker-dealers must also provide customers that hold penny stock in their accounts with such brokerdealer a monthly statement containing price and market information relating to the penny stock. If a penny stock is sold to an investor in
violation of the penny stock rules, the investor may be able to cancel its purchase and get their money back.
If applicable, the penny stock rules may make it difficult for stockholders to sell their shares of our common stock. Because of the
rules and restrictions applicable to a penny stock, there is less trading in penny stocks and the market price of our common stock may be
adversely affected. Also, many brokers choose not to participate in penny stock transactions. Accordingly, stockholders may not always be
able to resell their shares of our common stock publicly at times and prices that they feel are appropriate.
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Because we became public by means of a reverse Merger, we may not be able to attract the attention of brokerage firms .
Additional risks may exist because we became public through a “Reverse Merger.” Securities analysts of brokerage firms may not
provide coverage of our Company since there is little incentive for brokerage firms to recommend the purchase of our common stock. No
assurance can be given that brokerage firms will want to conduct secondary offerings on our behalf in the future.
Compliance with the reporting requirements of federal securities laws can be expensive.
We are a public reporting company in the United States, and accordingly, subject to the information and reporting requirements of
the Exchange Act and other federal securities laws, and the compliance obligations of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. The costs of
preparing and filing annual and quarterly reports and other information with the SEC and furnishing audited reports to stockholders are
substantial. If we do not provide current information about our Company to market makers, they will not be able to trade our stock. Failure
to comply with the applicable securities laws could result in private or governmental legal action against us or our officers and directors,
which could have a detrimental impact on our business and financials, the value of our stock, and the ability of stockholders to resell their
stock.
Our investors’ ownership may be diluted in the future.
In the future, we may issue additional authorized but previously unissued equity securities, resulting in the dilution of ownership
interests of our present stockholders. We expect to need to issue a substantial number of shares of common stock or other securities
convertible into or exercisable for common stock in connection with hiring or retaining employees, future acquisitions, raising additional
capital in the future to fund our operations, and other business purposes. Additional shares of common stock issued by us in the future,
including shares issued upon exercise of the warrants, will dilute an investor’s investment in the Company.
Directors, executive officers, principal stockholders and affiliated entities own a significant percentage of our capital stock, and they
may make decisions that our stockholders do not consider to be in their best interests.
As of the date of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, our directors, executive officers, principal stockholders and affiliated
entities beneficially own, in the aggregate, approximately 71% of our outstanding voting securities as of the date hereof. As a result, if
some or all of them acted together, they would have the ability to exert substantial influence over the election of our board of directors and
the outcome of issues requiring approval by our stockholders. This concentration of ownership may also have the effect of delaying or
preventing a change in control of our Company that may be favored by other stockholders. This could prevent transactions in which
stockholders might otherwise recover a premium for their shares over current market prices. This concentration of ownership and influence
in management and board decision-making could also harm the price of our capital stock by, among other things, discouraging a potential
acquirer from seeking to acquire shares of our capital stock (whether by making a tender offer or otherwise) or otherwise attempting to
obtain control of our Company.
Our board of directors has historically had significant control over us and we have yet to establish committees comprised of independent
directors.
We only have three directors. Because of such limited number of directors, each of our board members had significant control
over all corporate issues. In addition, two of our three directors also held officer positions in Qpagos Corporation. The third director is the
manager of an entity that provides consulting services to us. We could not establish board committees comprised of independent members,
and we did not have an audit or compensation committee comprised of independent directors. Our three directors performed these
functions, despite not all being independent directors. Thus, there was potential conflict in that two of our directors were also engaged in
management and participated in decisions concerning management compensation and audit issues that may affect management and our
performance.
We have identified material weaknesses in our internal controls, and we cannot provide assurances that these weaknesses will be
effectively remediated or that additional material weaknesses will not occur in the future. If our internal control over financial
reporting or our disclosure controls and procedures are not effective, we may not be able to accurately report our financial results,
prevent fraud, or file our periodic reports in a timely manner, which may cause investors to lose confidence in our reported financial
information and may lead to a decline in our stock price.
Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over our financial reporting, as defined
in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act. We have historically operated as a private company and the number and qualifications of our
finance and accounting staff have not been consistent with those of a public company. We have identified material weaknesses in our
internal controls with respect to our segregation of duties and review and accounting of certain complex transactions.
We have restated out consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014 and March 31, 2016 and June
30, 2016.
We have begun to take actions that we believe will substantially remediate the material weaknesses identified. In response to the
identification of our material weaknesses, we: (i) have retained a part-time Chief Financial Officer to segregate the duties of Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer; (ii) are in the process of establishing a review process for key aspects of our financial
reporting process, including the accounting for complex transactions; (iii) expanding our finance and accounting staff and (iv) will seek to
establish better operating controls and involve our board of directors in our internal controls process, which will involve establishing formal
procedures to communicate deficiencies in internal controls on a timely basis, and encourage our board of directors to more actively
participate in guiding management as it relates to internal controls matters. However, we cannot assure you that our internal control over
financial reporting, as modified, will enable us to identify or avoid material weaknesses in the future. Regardless, following the completion

of this offering we will be required to expend time and resources to further improve our internal controls over financial reporting, including
by expanding our finance and accounting staff.
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Investors in our Common Stock may have limited recourse against us, our directors and executive officers because we conduct our
operations outside the United States and our current directors and executive officers reside outside the United States.
Our presence outside the United States may limit investors’ legal recourse against us. Our operating subsidiaries are incorporated
under the laws of Mexico and all of our current directors and senior officers reside outside the United States, principally in Mexico.
Substantially all of our assets and the assets of our current directors and executive officers are located outside the United States, principally
in Mexico. As a result, investors may not be able to effect service of process within the United States upon our Company or its directors
and executive officers or to enforce U.S. court judgments obtained against our Company or its directors and executive officers in Mexico or
other jurisdictions outside the United States, including actions under the civil liability provisions of U.S. securities laws. In addition, it may
be difficult for investors to enforce, in original actions brought in courts in jurisdictions outside the United States, liabilities predicated upon
U.S. securities laws.
We do not expect to pay dividends on our Common Stock in the foreseeable future.
We do not expect to pay dividends on our Common Stock for the foreseeable future, and we may never pay
dividends. Consequently, the only opportunity for investors to achieve a return on their investment may be if a trading market develops,
and investors are able to sell their shares for a profit or if our business is sold at a price that enables investors to recognize a profit, neither
of which we can guarantee will ever take place. Our payment of any future dividends will be at the discretion of our Board of Directors
after taking into account various factors, including but not limited to our financial condition, operating results, cash needs, and growth plans.
We do not have an independent compensation committee, which presents the risk that compensation and benefits paid to those
executive officers who are board members and other officers may not be commensurate with its financial performance.
A compensation committee consisting of independent directors is a safeguard against self-dealing by company executives. Our
board of directors, is comprised of two executive officers and one other director, and absent an independent compensation committee
currently determines the compensation and benefits of our executive officers, administers our employee stock and benefit plans, and
reviews policies relating to the compensation and benefits of our employees Our lack of an independent compensation committee presents
the risk that our executive officers on the board may have influence over their personal compensation and benefits levels that may not be
commensurate with its financial performance.
Limitations on director and officer liability and indemnification of our officers and directors by it may discourage stockholders from
bringing suit against an officer or director.
Our certificate of incorporation and by-laws provide, with certain exceptions as permitted by Nevada law, that a director or officer
shall not be personally liable to us or our stockholders for breach of fiduciary duty as a director or officer, unless the director or officer
committed both a breach of fiduciary duty and such breach was accompanied by intentional misconduct, fraud or knowing violation of law.
These provisions may discourage stockholders from bringing suit against a director or officer for breach of fiduciary duty and may reduce
the likelihood of derivative litigation brought by stockholders on behalf of us against a director or officer.
We are responsible for the indemnification of our officers and directors.
Should our officers and/or directors require us to contribute to their defense in an action brought against them in their capacity as
such, we may be required to spend significant amounts of our capital. Our certificate of incorporation and by-laws also provide for the
indemnification of our directors, officers, employees, and agents, under certain circumstances, against attorney's fees and other expenses
incurred by them in any litigation to which they become a party arising from their association with or activities on behalf of us. This
indemnification policy could result in substantial expenditures, which we may be unable to recoup. If these expenditures are significant, or
involve issues which result in significant liability for our key personnel, we may be unable to continue operating as a going concern.
Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds for the Nine months ended September 30, 2016
During July 2016, we sold an aggregate of 140,000 shares of common stock to a certain investor for gross proceeds of $105,000. The
issuances of the common stock were made in reliance on the exemption provided by Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act for the offer and
sale of securities not involving a public offering. The recipients of securities in each of these transactions acquired the securities for
investment only and not with a view to or for sale in connection with any distribution thereof, and appropriate legends were affixed to the
securities issued in these transactions. Each of the recipients of securities in these transactions was an accredited investor within the
meaning of Rule 501 of Regulation D under the Securities Act and had adequate access, through employment, business or other
relationships, to information about us.
Item 3. Defaults upon senior Securities
None.
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures
None.
Item 5. Other Information
None.
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Item 6. Exhibits
EXHIBIT INDEX
Exhibit
Number
31.1

Description of Exhibit
Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

31.2

Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) and I5d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.1

Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.2

Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

101.INS

XBRL Instance Document

101.SCH

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

101.CAL

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document

101.DEF

XBRL Taxonomy Definition Linkbase Document

101.LAB

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document

101.PRE

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document
SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by
the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.
QPAGOS
Date: December 13, 2016

By: /s/ Gaston Pereira
Gaston Pereira
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)
QPAGOS

Date: December 13, 2016

By: /s/ Mark Korb
Mark Korb
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)
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Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT
OF 2002
I, Gaston Pereira, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2016 of QPAGOS;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the
period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

5.

(a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under
our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is
made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b)

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this
report based on such evaluation; and

(d)

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting;
and.

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the
equivalent functions):
(a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial
information; and

(b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: December 13, 2016
/s/ Gaston Pereira
Gaston Pereira
Chief Executive Officer and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)

Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT
OF 2002
I, Mark Korb, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2016 of QPAGOS;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the
period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

5.

(a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under
our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is
made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b)

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this
report based on such evaluation; and

(d)

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting;
and.

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the
equivalent functions):
(a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial
information; and

(b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: December 13, 2016
/s/ Mark Korb
Mark Korb
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Quarterly Report of QPAGOS (the "Registrant") on Form 10-Q for the period ending September 30, 2016 as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), I, Gaston Pereira, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. ss. 1350,
as adopted pursuant to Section. 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my knowledge:
(1)

The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2)

The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of
the Registrant.

Date: December 13, 2016

By:/s/ Gaston Pereira
Gaston Pereira
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Exhibit 32.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Quarterly Report of QPAGOS (the "Registrant") on Form 10-Q for the period ending September 30, 2016 as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), I, Mark Korb, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. ss. 1350, as
adopted pursuant to Section. 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my knowledge:
(1)

The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2)

The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of
the Registrant.

Date: December 13, 2016

By:/s/ Mark Korb
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

